# RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF RETIREMENT CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION

## CCCERA RESOLUTION FOR SALARY AND BENEFITS FOR UNREPRESENTED EMPLOYEES

**AMENDED MARCH 13, 2024** 

## **Contents**

1.	Paid Holidays:	2
2.	Personal Holidays:	3
3.	Vacation:	3
١	Vacation Buy Back:	4
4.	Sick Leave:	5
5.	Sick Leave Incentive Plan:	5
6.	Management Administrative Leave	6
7.	Other Unpaid Leaves:	6
A	A. Leave of Absence (Non-Statutory)	6
_	B. Leaves Pursuant to Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), California Family Rights Act (CFRA) Pregnancy Disability Leave Act (PDL)	
(	C. Medical Certification	8
	D. Intermittent Use of Leave	8
E	E. Aggregate Use for Spouses for FMLA Leave Only	8
F	F. Definitions	9
8.	Health, Dental, and Related Benefits	10
9.	Long-Term and Short-Term Disability Insurance	13
10.	State Disability Insurance	13
11.	Life Insurance	13
12.	Workers Compensation Insurance	13
13.	Health Care Spending Account	15
14.	Dependent Care Assistance Program	15
15.	Premium Conversion Plan	15
16.	Vision Insurance	15
17.	Retirement:	15
(	CCCERA Membership:	15
[	Deferred Compensation:	16
18.	General Training	17
19.	Other Job-Related Training	17
20.	Professional Development Reimbursement	17
21.	Salary	18
22.	Overtime	18
23.	Differential Pay	18
A	A. Longevity	18
E	B. Certificate Differentials	19

WHEREAS, the Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association ("CCCERA") is a public agency established by virtue of, and governed by the County Employees' Retirement Law of 1937, Government Code sections 31450, et seq., ("CERL") and Article XVI, section 17 of the California Constitution.

WHEREAS, CCCERA administers a retirement system for the County of Contra Costa and for other participating employers located within the County, including CCCERA, by and through its Board of Retirement ("Board"), and as the Board delegates to its employees who are appointed by CCCERA pursuant to CERL section 31529.9 ("CCCERA Employees.")

NOW THEREFORE IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that employees of CCCERA in the job classifications identified on Attachment A hereto shall receive the following salary and benefits, until further notice:

#### 1. Paid Holidays:

CCCERA observes the following paid holidays during the term covered by this Resolution:

New Year's Day
Martin Luther King Jr. Day
Presidents' Day
Memorial Day
Day after Thanksgiving
Lunateenth
Day
Day Christmas Day
Christmas Day

Juneteenth Christmas Day

Independence Day

Any paid holiday observed by CCCERA that falls on a Saturday is observed on the preceding Friday and any paid holiday that falls on a Sunday is observed on the following Monday.

<u>Eligibility for Paid Holidays</u>: Regular full-time employees are entitled to a paid day off in recognition of the holiday without a reduction in monthly base pay for CCCERA-observed holidays listed above.

Part-time employees [who are regularly scheduled to work a minimum of 20 hours per week] are entitled to the listed paid holidays on a pro rata basis. For example, a part time employee whose position hours are 24 per week is entitled to 4.8 hours off work on a holiday  $(24/40 \times 8 = 4.8)$ .

When a paid holiday falls on a part-time employee's normally scheduled work day and the part-time paid holiday hours are more than the normally scheduled work hours the employee is entitled to receive flexible compensation hours or pay at the rate of one times the employees' base rate of pay for the difference between the employee's normally scheduled work hours and the paid part-time holiday hours.

When a paid holiday falls on a part-time employee's normally scheduled work day and the

part-time paid holiday hours are less than the normally scheduled work hours the employee must use non-sick leave accruals for the difference between the employee's normally scheduled work hours and the part-time paid holiday hours. If the employee does not have any non-sick leave accrual balances, leave without pay will be authorized.

<u>Flexible Compensation</u>: Flexible Compensation may not be accumulated in excess of 288 hours. After 288 hours are accrued by an employee, the employee will receive flexible pay at the rate of 1.0 times the employee's base rate of pay. Flexible compensation may be taken on those dates and times determined by mutual agreement of the employee and their supervisor.

## 2. <u>Personal Holidays:</u>

Regular employees subject to this Resolution are entitled to accrue up to two hours of personal holiday credit each month.

Part-time employees [who are regularly scheduled to work a minimum of 20 hours per week] accrue personal holiday hours on a pro rata basis.

No employee may accrue more than forty hours of personal holiday credit at any time. Once the employee reaches forty hours of personal holiday, the employee will cease accruing such paid time off until he/she uses sufficient such time to reduce his/her bank below the forty-hour maximum, after at which time the employee may begin to accrue additional hours up to the forty-hour maximum.

On separation from CCCERA service, employees shall be paid for any accrued and unused personal holiday hours at the employee's then-current rate of pay.

## 3. <u>Vacation:</u>

Regular full-time employees subject to this Resolution are entitled to accrue paid vacation as follows:

	Monthly Accrual	Maximum Cumulative
<u>Length of Service*</u>	<u>Hours</u>	<u>Hours</u>
Fewer than 11 years	10	240
11 years	10-2/3	256
12 years	11-1/3	272
13 years	12	288
14 years	12-2/3	304
15 through 19 years	13-1/3	320
20 through 24 years	16-2/3	400
25 through 29 years	20	480

	Monthly	Maximum		
	Accrual	Cumulative		
Length of Service*	<u>Hours</u>	<u>Hours</u>		
30 years and up	23-1/3	560		

<sup>\*</sup> Includes County service if employed at CCCERA before January 1, 2015.

Part-time employees [who are regularly scheduled to work a minimum of 20 hours per week] are entitled to the listed paid vacation on a pro rata basis.

Employees may accrue paid vacation time up to a maximum of twice their annual vacation accrual. That is, for a full-time employee with 8 years of service, the employee may accrue up to a maximum of 240 hours (120 hours maximum annual accrual x 2 = 240 hours). Once the employee reaches this maximum cumulative hours, she/he will cease accruing paid vacation time until he/she uses sufficient vacation to drop below the maximum cumulative hours after which time the employee may begin to accrue additional hours up to the maximum cumulative hours.

On separation from CCCERA service, employees shall be paid for any accrued and unused vacation hours at the employee's then-current rate of pay.

## **Vacation Buy Back:**

- A. Employees may elect payment of up to one-third (1/3) of their annual vacation accrual, subject to the following conditions:
  - (1) the choice can be made only once every thirteen (13) months and there must be at least twelve (12) full months between each election;
  - (2) payment is based on an hourly rate determined by dividing the employee's current salary by 173.33; and
  - (3) the maximum number of vacation hours that may be paid in any one sale is onethird (1/3) of the annual accrual.
- B. The vacation buy back election must be made in the calendar year preceding the year of the vacation sale. Hours that an employee elects to cash out are not available for the employee to use as vacation. If a vacation buy back election is not made in the preceding calendar year, it will be considered a declination of the vacation sale for the year.

**NOTE:** Where a lump-sum payment is made to employees as a retroactive general salary adjustment for a portion of a calendar year that is subsequent to the exercise by an employee of the vacation buy-back provision herein, that employee's vacation buy-back will be adjusted to reflect the percentage difference in base pay rates upon which the lump-sum payment was computed, provided that the period covered by the lump-sum payment includes the effective date of the vacation buy-back. For example: In May a salary increase is approved with an effective date of January 1<sup>st</sup> and the employee completed a vacation buy-

back in March, a lump sum payment for the difference in base pay of the vacation buy-back would be calculated.

## 4. Sick Leave:

Regular full-time employees subject to this Resolution shall earn paid sick leave benefits at the rate of eight (8) hours per month. Regular part-time employees [who are regularly scheduled to work a minimum of 20 hours per week] are entitled to sick leave benefits on a pro rata basis.

Unused sick leave hours accumulate from year to year. When an employee is separated, other than through retirement, accumulated sick leave hours shall be cancelled, unless the separation results from layoff, in which case the accumulated hours shall be restored if reemployed in a regular position within the period of layoff eligibility. At retirement, employees are credited, at the rate of one day for each one day earned, with sick leave accumulated as of the day of retirement and that sick leave credit counts as additional retirement service credit.

For more information on sick leave benefits please refer to the CCCERA Personnel Policies.

## 5. Sick Leave Incentive Plan:

Employees may be eligible for a payoff of a part of unused sick leave accruals at separation. The sick leave incentive plan is an incentive for employees to safeguard sick leave accruals as protection against wage loss due to time lost for injury or illness. Payoff must be approved by the Chief Executive Officer, and is subject to the following conditions:

- > The employee must have resigned in good standing
- > Payout is not available if the employee is eligible to retire
- The balance of sick leave at resignation must be at least 70% of accruals earned in the preceding continuous period of employment excluding any sick leave use covered by the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), the California Family Rights Act (CFRA) or the California Pregnancy Disability Act (PDL).
- Payout is by the following schedule:

Years of Payment	Payment of Unused Sick Leave
Continuous Service	<u>Payable</u>
3 – 5 years	30%
5 – 7 years	40%
7 plus years	50%

No payoff will be made pursuant to this section unless CCCERA certifies that an

- employee requesting as sick leave payoff has terminated membership in, and has withdrawn their contributions from CCCERA.
- It is the intent of the Board of Retirement that payments made pursuant to this section are in lieu of CCCERA retirement benefits resulting from employment with any of the employers in the CCCERA retirement plan.

#### 6. Management Administrative Leave

Management Administrative Leave is authorized time away from the job for any personal activities and needs which are not charged to sick leave or vacation hours. Unrepresented employees who are exempt from the payment of overtime are eligible for this benefit.

Use of Management Administrative Leave may be requested whenever desired by the employee; however; approval of request shall be subject to the same department process as used for vacation requests.

All unused Management Administrative Leave will be cancelled at 11:59 p.m. on December 31st of each year.

- A. On January 1st of each year, all full-time unrepresented employees, who are exempt from the payment of overtime and in paid status, will be credited with ninety four (94) hours of paid Management Administrative Leave. All Management Administrative Leave is non-accruable and all balances will be zeroed out on December 31st of each year.
- B. Regular part-time employees [who are regularly scheduled to work a minimum of 20 hours per week] are eligible for Management Administrative Leave on a prorated basis, based upon their position hours.
- C. Employees appointed (hired or promoted) to a management position are eligible for Management Administrative Leave on the first day of the month following their appointment date and will receive Management Administrative Leave on a prorated basis for that first year.

#### 7. Other Unpaid Leaves:

Requests for leave without pay shall be made upon forms prescribed by Human Resources and shall state specifically the reason for the request, the date when it is desired to begin the leave, and the probable date of return.

## A. Leave of Absence (Non-Statutory)

Leave without pay may be granted by the Appointing Authority for any of the following

reasons that are not otherwise covered by FMLA, CFRA, and PDL:

- 1. Employee's own illness, disability, or serious health condition;
- 2. Pregnancy or pregnancy disability;
- 3. To bond with the employee's newborn or with a child placed in an employee's family for adoption or foster care;
- 4. Family care to care for a spouse, child, parent, or domestic partner who has a serious health condition;
- 5. To take a course of study such as will increase the employee's work-related knowledge or skills on return to the position;
- 6. For other reasons or circumstances acceptable to the Appointing Authority.

An employee must request a leave of absence at least thirty (30) days before the leave is to begin if the need for the leave is foreseeable. If the need is not foreseeable, the employee must provide written notice to the employer of the need for leave as soon as possible and practical.

A leave without pay may be for a period not to exceed one (1) year, provided the Appointing Authority may extend such leave for additional periods. The procedure in granting extensions shall be the same as that in granting the original leave, provided that the request for extension must be made not later than thirty (30) calendar days before the expiration of the original leave.

Whenever an employee who has been granted a leave without any pay desires to return before the expiration of such leave, the employee shall submit a request to the Appointing Authority in writing at least fifteen (15) days in advance of the proposed return. Early return is subject to prior approval by the appointing authority. The Human Resources Department shall be notified promptly of such return.

The decision of the Appointing Authority on granting or denying non-statutory leave or early return from non-statutory leave shall be subject to appeal to the Human Resources Manager and not subject to appeal through the grievance procedure set forth in this MOU.

B. Leaves Pursuant to Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), California Family Rights Act (CFRA) and Pregnancy Disability Leave Act (PDL)

FMLA: Upon request to CCCERA Human Resources, any employee who meets the legal eligibility requirements for FMLA shall be entitled to at least twelve (12) weeks of FMLA, which will be extended for up to an additional six (6) weeks of leave with the same FMLA leave,

measured backward from the date an employee uses any FMLA leave (less if so requested by the employee), for a qualifying reason in accordance with federal laws. FMLA leave will run concurrently with CFRA and PDL leaves to the extent permitted by law. CCCERA will grant an additional six (6) weeks of leave with the same FMLA protections, for a total of eighteen (18) weeks during a rolling twelve (12) month period.

CFRA: Upon request to CCCERA Human Resources, any employee who meets the legal eligibility requirements for CFRA shall be entitled to at least twelve (12) weeks of CFRA leave, measured backward from the date an employee uses any CFRA leave (less if so requested by the employee), for a qualifying reason in accordance with state law. CFRA leave will run concurrently with FMLA leave to the extent permitted by law, except that CFRA leave will not run concurrently with pregnancy disability leave under the PDL. CCCERA will grant an additional six (6) weeks of leave with the same CFRA protections, for a total of eighteen (18) weeks during a rolling twelve (12) month period.

PDL: Upon request to CCCERA Human Resources, any employee who meets the legal eligibility requirements for PDL shall be entitled to up to four (4) months of PDL as provided in state law.

#### C. Medical Certification

The employee must provide medical certification of the need for non-statutory family care, pregnancy disability, or medical leave, or for FMLA, CFRA and/or PDL. Leave for periods that exceed the leave allowed under the FMLA, CFRA, and/or PDL, may be granted at the discretion of the Appointing Authority. No medical certification is required for baby/child bonding.

#### D. Intermittent Use of Leave

The FMLA/CFRA/PDL entitlement, and the additional six (6) weeks that CCCERA grants, may be used in broken periods, intermittently on a regular or irregular basis, or may include reduced work schedules depending on the specific circumstances and situations surrounding the request for leave. The leave may include use of appropriate available paid leave accruals when accruals are used to maintain pay status, but use of such accruals is not required. When paid leave accruals are used for FMLA, CFRA, and/or PDL, such time shall be counted as a part of the leave entitlement.

## E. Aggregate Use for Spouses for FMLA Leave Only

In the situation where husband and wife are both employed by CCCERA, the family care of medical leave entitlement based on the birth, adoption or foster care of a child is limited to an aggregate for both employees together of eighteen (18) weeks during a "rolling" twelve (12) month period measured backward from the date the employee uses his/her FMLA leave. Employees requesting family care leave are required to advise their appointing authority(ies) when their spouse is also employed by CCCERA.

#### F. Definitions

For leaves of absence under this section, the following definitions apply:

- a) <u>Child:</u> A biological, adopted, or foster child, stepchild, legal ward, conservatee or a child who is under eighteen (18) years of age for whom an employee stands in loco parentis or for whom the employee is the guardian or conservator, or an adult dependent child of the employee.
- <u>Parent:</u> A biological, foster, or adoptive parent, a step-parent, legal guardian, conservator, or other person standing in loco parentis to a child.
- c) Spouse: A partner in marriage as defined in California Civil Code Section 4100.
- d) <u>Domestic Partner:</u> An unmarried person, eighteen (18) years or older, to whom the employee is not related and with whom the employee resides and shares the common necessities of life.
- e) <u>Serious Health Condition:</u> An illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition and involves either inpatient care in a hospital, hospice or residential health care facility or continuing treatment or continuing supervision by a health care provider (e.g. physician or surgeon) as defined by state and federal law.
- f) <u>Certification for Medical Leave:</u> A written communication to the employer from a health care provider of a person for whose care the leave is being taken which need not identify the serious health condition involved, but shall contain:
  - 1. the date, if known, on which the serious health condition commenced;
  - 2. the probable duration of the condition;
  - 3. for family care, an estimate of the frequency and duration of the leave required to render care or supervision for the family member;
  - for the employee's serious health condition, a statement whether the employee is able to work, or is unable to perform one or more of the essential functions of their position;
  - 5. for intermittent leave or a reduced work schedule leave, the certification should indicate that the intermittent leave or reduced leave schedule is needed for the employee's serious health condition or for the care of the employee's family member, and its expected duration.

#### G. Military Leave

Federal and state mandated-military leaves of absence are granted without pay to members of the United States Uniformed Services, the California National Guard, or the reserves. To be eligible, an employee must submit written verification from the appropriate military authority. Such leaves will be granted in accordance with state and federal law.

When an employee goes on Military Leave for more than 30 days, any applicable group insurance (existing provisions will apply) continues for 90 days following the commencement of unpaid Military Leave. Beyond the 90 days, the employee may elect to continue the same group health care coverage, including dependent coverage, if applicable, for up to 24 months at his/her own expense.

An employee may elect to use accrued personal holidays, vacation, and/or management administrative leave at the beginning of unpaid military service or may retain earned and accrued vacation for use upon return from the leave. The employee must provide this request/election in writing to Administrative/HR Manager prior to the start of the military leave.

At the conclusion of military service, an employee will be reinstated upon giving notice of his/her intent to return to work by either (1) reporting to work or (2) submitting a timely oral or written request to CCCERA for reinstatement within 90 days of days after their release from active duty or any extended period required by law. The Military Leave will expire upon the employee's failure to request reinstatement or return to work in a timely manner after conclusion of service.

## 8. Health, Dental, and Related Benefits

Regular full-time and part-time employees [who are regularly scheduled to work a minimum of 20 hours per week] and their eligible dependents may be entitled to receive medical and dental insurance coverage through CCCERA Plans.

Effective January 1, 2016, CCCERA shall offer an Internal Revenue Code Section 125 Flexible Benefits Plan that offers (i) CalPERS health plan coverages for each eligible employee and the employee's eligible family members and (ii) at least one other nontaxable benefit. CCCERA shall make monthly contributions under the plan for each eligible employee and their dependents (if applicable). Such contributions shall consist of (i) the Minimum Employer Contribution (MEC) established by the Public Employees' Medical and Hospital Care Act, and designated by CCCERA as the MEC, and (ii) the additional amount of such contributions in excess of the MEC.

Any eligible employee who enrolls in health coverage with a higher total premium than CCCERA's contributions with respect to the eligible employee, will pay the difference via pretax payroll deductions under the plan to the extent permitted by Internal Revenue Code Section 125.

For the plan year that begins on January 1, 2024, CCCERA will pay ninety percent (90%) of the total medical plan premium for each tier. Employees will pay the remaining ten (10%) of the

total plan premium.

For the plan year that begins on January 1, 2024, CCCERA will pay ninety percent (90%) of the total dental plan premium for each tier of the dental plan. Employees will pay the remaining ten (10%) of the total plan premium.

<u>Dual Coverage</u>: Each employee, eligible dependent and retiree may be covered by only a single CCCERA health or dental plan.

Please refer any questions about medical/dental benefits to Human Resources.

## **Health and Dental Coverage Upon Retirement**

- Any CCCERA retiree or their eligible dependent who becomes age 65 on or after January
   2009 and who is eligible for Medicare must immediately enroll in Medicare Parts A and B.
- 2. For employees hired by Contra Costa County or CCCERA on or after January 1, 2009 and their eligible dependents, upon completion of five (5) years of CCCERA service, an eligible employee who retires from CCCERA may retain continuous coverage of a CCCERA health and/or dental plan provided that:
  - i. he or she begins to receive a monthly retirement allowance from CCCERA within 120 days of separation from CCCERA employment and
  - ii. he or she pays the difference between the Public Employees' Medical and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA) minimum contribution and the premium cost of the health plan. He or she pays the full premium of the dental plan without any CCCERA premium subsidy.
- 3. For employees hired by Contra Costa County before January 1, 2009 and their eligible dependents, upon completion of five (5) years of CCCERA service, an eligible employee who retires from CCCERA may retain continuous coverage of a CCCERA health and/or dental plan provided that they meet the requirements listed below:
  - i. he or she begins to receive a monthly retirement allowance from CCCERA within 120 days of separation from CCCERA employment and
  - ii. he or she pays the difference between the monthly premium subsidy established by the Board of Retirement for eligible employees and their eligible dependents and the premium cost of the health/dental plan.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>CCCERA will pay the health/dental plan monthly premium subsidy established by the Board of Retirement for eligible retirees and their eligible dependents.

- 4. All periods of benefit eligible employment will be included in the five (5) years of service calculation for purposes of health and dental coverage upon retirement.
- 5. Employees who were on an authorized leave of absence without pay prior to retiring must have maintained coverage through CCCERA and paid the applicable premiums during their authorized leave of absence in order to be eligible for coverage under this Section.
- 6. Employees, who resign and file for a deferred retirement and their eligible dependents, may continue in their CCCERA group health and/or dental plan under the following conditions and limitations:
  - i. Health and dental coverage during the deferred retirement period is totally at the expense of the employee, without any CCCERA contributions.
  - ii. Life insurance coverage is not included.
  - iii. To continue health and dental coverage, the employee must:
    - a. be qualified for a deferred retirement under the 1937 Retirement Act provisions;
    - b. be an active member of a CCCERA group health and/or dental plan at the time of filing their deferred retirement application and elect to continue plan benefits;
    - c. be eligible for a monthly allowance from the Retirement System and direct receipt of a monthly allowance within one hundred twenty (120) days of application for deferred retirement; and
    - d. file an election to defer retirement and to continue health benefits hereunder with CCCERA within thirty (30) days before separation from CCCERA service.
  - iv. Deferred retirees who elect continued health benefits hereunder and their eligible dependents may maintain continuous membership in their CCCERA health and/or dental plan group during the period of deferred retirement by paying the full premium for health and dental coverage on or before the 10<sup>th</sup> of each month, to CCCERA. When the deferred retirees begin to receive retirement benefits, they will qualify for the same health and/or dental coverage listed above, as similarly situated retirees who did not defer retirement.
  - v. Deferred retirees may elect retiree health benefits hereunder without electing to maintain participation in their CCCERA health and/or dental plan during their deferred retirement period. When they begin to receive retirement benefits, they will qualify for the same health and/or dental coverage as listed above, as similarly situated retirees who did not defer retirement.
  - vi. Employees who elect deferred retirement will not be eligible in any event for CCCERA health and/or dental premium subsidies unless the member draws

- a monthly retirement allowance within one hundred twenty days (120) after separation from CCCERA employment.
- vii. Deferred retirees and their eligible dependents are required to meet the same eligibility provisions for retiree health/dental coverage as similarly situated retirees who did not defer retirement.
- 7. For employees who retire and are eligible to receive a medical premium subsidy that is greater than the PEMHCA minimum contribution, each month during which such retiree medical coverage continues, CCCERA will provide each such retiree with a medical expense reimbursement plan (MERP), also known as a health reimbursement arrangement (HRA), subject to Internal Revenue Code Section 105, with a monthly credit equal to the excess of (i) the relevant medical coverage monthly premium subsidy set forth in Attachment B for such eligible retiree and his or her eligible family members over (ii) the then current MEC.

#### 9. Long-Term and Short-Term Disability Insurance

CCCERA will provide Long-Term and Short-Term Disability Insurance.

#### 10. State Disability Insurance

Unrepresented employees do not contribute towards State Disability Insurance.

#### 11. Life Insurance

For employees who are enrolled in CCCERA's program of medical or dental coverage as either the primary or the dependent, term life insurance in the amount of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) will be provided by CCCERA.

Management employees, with the exception of the Chief Executive Officer will also receive fifty-seven thousand dollars (\$57,000) in addition to the life insurance provided above. The Chief Executive Officer will receive an additional sixty thousand dollars (\$60,000) in addition to the ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) insurance provided above.

In addition to the life insurance benefits provided by CCCERA, employees may subscribe voluntarily and at their own expense for supplemental life insurance. Please refer to Human Resources for additional information.

#### 12. Workers Compensation Insurance

CCCERA provides workers' compensation benefits to employees who sustain a work-related injury or illness, and claims are processed through an adjusting agent/insurance carrier as designated by CCCERA, which administers workers' compensation claims and provides

benefits and services to injured employees. A worker's compensation injury is any injury or illness that arises out of and in the course of employment (AOE/COE) (Labor Code section 3600).

- 1. Waiting Period: There is a three (3) calendar day waiting period before workers' compensation benefits commence. If the injured worker loses any time on the date of injury, that day counts as day one (1) of the waiting period. If the injured worker does not lose time on the date of the injury, the waiting period is the first three (3) days following the date of the injury. The time the employee is scheduled to work during this waiting period will be charged to the employee's sick leave and/or vacation accruals. In order to qualify for workers' compensation the employee must be under the care of a physician. Temporary compensation is payable on the first three (3) days of disability when the injury\_necessitates hospitalization, or when the disability exceeds fourteen (14) days.
- 2. <u>Continuing Pay</u>: Permanent employees shall continue to receive the appropriate percent as per Labor Code section 4650 et. seq. of their regular monthly salary during any period of compensable temporary disability not to exceed one year. Payment of continuing pay and/or temporary disability compensation is made in accordance with Part 2, Article 3 of the Workers' Compensation Laws of California. "Compensable temporary disability absence" for the purpose of this Section, is any absence due to work connected disability which qualifies for temporary disability compensation as set forth in Part 2, Article 3 of the Workers' Compensation Laws of California.

When any disability becomes medically permanent and stationary and/or reaches maximum medical improvement, the salary provided in this Section shall terminate. No charge shall be made against sick leave or vacation for these payments. Sick leave and vacation rights shall not accrue for those periods during which continuing pay is received.

Employees shall be entitled to a maximum of one (1) year of continuing pay benefits for any one injury or illness.

Continuing pay begins at the same time that temporary workers' compensation benefits commence and continues until either the member is declared medically permanent/stationary, or until one (1) year of continuing pay, whichever comes first, provided the employee remains in an active employed status. Continuing pay is automatically terminated on the date an employee is separated from CCCERA by resignation, retirement, layoff, or the employee is no longer employed by CCCERA. In these instances, employees will be paid workers' compensation benefits as prescribed by workers' compensation laws. All continuing pay must be cleared through CCCERA.

3. <u>Physician Visits</u>: Whenever an employee who has been injured on the job and has returned to work is required by an attending physician to leave work for treatment during working hours, the employee is allowed time off, up to three (3) hours for such treatment, without loss of pay or benefits. Said visits are to be scheduled contiguous to either the beginning or end of the scheduled workday whenever possible. This provision

applies only to injuries/illnesses that have been accepted by CCCERA as work related.

## 13. Health Care Spending Account

After six (6) months of regular employment, full time and part time (20/40 or greater) employees may elect to participate in a Health Care Spending Account (HCSA) Program designated to qualify for tax savings under Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code, but such savings are not guaranteed. The HCSA Program allows employees to set aside a predetermined amount of money from their pay, before taxes, for health care expenses not reimbursed by any other health benefit plans. HCSA dollars may be expended on any eligible medical expenses allowed by Internal Revenue Code Section 125. Any unused balance over six hundred-ten dollars (\$610) is forfeited and cannot be recovered by the employee. Please refer to Human Resources for more information on the HCSA Program.

#### 14. Dependent Care Assistance Program

Full time and part time (20/40 or greater) employees may elect to participate in a Dependent Care Assistance Program (DCAP) designed to qualify for tax savings under Section 129 of the Internal Revenue Code, but such savings are not guaranteed. The program allows employees to set aside up to five thousand (\$5,000) of annual salary (before taxes) per calendar year to pay for eligible dependent care (child and elder care) expenses. According to IRS regulations, any unused balance is forfeited and may not be recovered by the employee. Please refer to Human Resources for more information on DCAP.

#### 15. Premium Conversion Plan

CCCERA offers the Premium Conversion Plan (PCP) designed to qualify for tax savings under Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code, but tax savings are not guaranteed. The program allows employees to use pre-tax salary to pay health and dental premiums. Please refer to Human Resources for more information on the PCP.

## 16. Vision Insurance

CCCERA will pay 100% of the premium, including spouse and dependent coverage, for EyeMed Option 2 vision coverage and up to two hours of CCCERA paid time for exam and to obtain glasses.

#### 17. Retirement:

## **CCCERA Membership:**

Contributions: Employees are responsible for the payment of one hundred percent of the employees' basic retirement benefit contributions determined annually by the Board. Employees are also responsible for the payment of the employee's contributions to the retirement cost-of-living program as determined annually by the Board. CCCERA is

- responsible for payment of one hundred percent of the employer's retirement contributions as determined annually by the Board.
- A. Employees who are not classified as new members under PEPRA will be enrolled in Retirement Tier 1 enhanced. For more information on retirement tiers please refer to the CCCERA member handbooks.
- B. Employees who are classified as new members under PEPRA will be enrolled in Retirement IV (3% COLA). For more information on retirement tiers please refer to the CCCERA member handbooks.
- C. CCCERA will implement Section 414(h) (2) of the Internal Revenue Code which allows CCCERA to reduce the gross monthly pay of employees by an amount equal to the employee's total contribution to the CCCERA Retirement Plan before Federal and State income taxes are withheld, and forward that amount to the CCCERA Retirement Plan. This program of deferred retirement contribution will be universal and non-voluntary as required by statute.

## **Deferred Compensation:**

A. CCCERA will contribute eighty-five dollars (\$85) per month to each employee who participates in CCCERA's Deferred Compensation Plan. To be eligible for this Deferred Compensation Incentive, the employee must contribute to the deferred compensation plan as indicated below:

Employees with Current Monthly Salary of:	Qualifying Base Contribution Amount	Monthly Contribution Required to Maintain Incentive Program Eligibility
\$2,500 and below	\$250	\$50
\$2,501 – 3,334	\$500	\$50
\$3,335 – 4,167	\$750	\$50
\$4,168 – 5,000	\$1,000	\$50
\$5,001 – 5,834	\$1,500	\$100
\$5,835 – 6,667	\$2,000	\$100
\$6,668 and above	\$2,500	\$100

Employees who discontinue contributions or who contribute less than the required amount per month for a period of one (1) month or more will no longer be eligible for the eighty-five dollars (\$85) Deferred Compensation Incentive. To reestablish eligibility, employees must again make a Base Contribution Amounts as set forth above based on current monthly salary. Employees with a break in deferred compensation contributions either because of an approved medical leave or an approved financial hardship withdrawal will not be required to reestablish eligibility. Further, employees who lose eligibility due to displacement by layoff, but maintain contributions at the required level and are later employed in an eligible position, will not be required to reestablish eligibility.

B. Regular employees hired on and after January 1, 2009 will receive one hundred and fifty dollars (\$150) per month to an employee's account in the Contra Costa County Deferred

Compensation Plan or other tax-qualified savings program designated by CCCERA, for employees who meet all of the following conditions:

- 1. The employee must be hired by CCCERA on or after January 1, 2009.
- 2. The employee is not eligible for a monthly premium subsidy for health and/or dental upon retirement as set forth in Section 8.
- 3. The employee must be appointed to a regular position. The position may be either full time or part time (designated at a minimum of 20 hours per week).
- 4. The employee must have been employed by CCCERA or Contra Costa County for at least 90 calendar days.
- 5. The employee must contribute a minimum of twenty-five dollars (\$25) per month to the Contra Costa County Deferred Compensation Plan, or other tax-qualified savings program designated by CCCERA.
- 6. The employee must complete and sign the required enrollment form(s) for his/her deferred compensation account and submit those forms to Human Resources.
- 7. The employee may not exceed the annual maximum contribution amount allowable by the United States Internal Revenue Code.
- 8. Employees are eligible to apply for loans from the Contra Costa County Deferred Compensation Plan loan program. For more information on the loan program refer to Human Resources.

## 18. General Training

CCCERA periodically provides training to employees on its harassment prevention and equal opportunity/discrimination policies. The purpose of these training sessions is to inform and remind employees of CCCERA's policies on these matters. These training sessions are mandatory.

Employees also receive safety training as part of CCCERA's Injury and Illness Prevention program.

#### 19. Other Job-Related Training

Employees may request to attend training sessions on topics that are directly related to the employee's current job and that are likely to improve the employee's job knowledge and skills. Requests to attend training must be submitted to the employee's department manager. It is within the sole discretion of CCCERA whether or not to grant a training request.

#### 20. <u>Professional Development Reimbursement</u>

To encourage personal and professional growth which is beneficial to both CCCERA and the employee, CCCERA reimburses for certain expenses incurred by employees which are related to an employee's current work assignment.

Expenses that may be eligible for reimbursement include certification programs and courses offered through accredited colleges, universities and technical schools.

<u>Guidelines:</u> Prior to registering for a course, the employee must provide appropriate information to Human Resources to begin the approval process.

If granted, reimbursement may be used to defray actual costs of tuition, registration, testing materials, testing fees and books only and is limited to \$2,000 per year.

Course attendance, study, class assignments and exams must be accomplished outside of the employee's regular working hours.

<u>Reimbursement:</u> Reimbursement will only be provided for course work in which the employee achieves a grade of C or better. Reimbursement will be provided only to employees who are employed by CCCERA at the time CCCERA receives evidence of satisfactory completion of the course or certification exam.

If the employee does not successfully complete the course or certification exam, no reimbursement will be provided.

<u>Exceptions</u>: For classifications which require a certification or technical license, CCCERA will reimburse the entire cost of certification fees and membership dues without reducing the maximum annual Professional Development Reimbursement amount.

## 21. Salary

Attached hereto as Attachment A, is the salary schedule for all classifications of unrepresented employees.

## 22. Overtime

Unrepresented employees who are exempt from the payment of overtime are not entitled to receive overtime pay, flexible compensatory, or overtime compensatory time. Unrepresented employees who are non-exempt from the payment of overtime will receive overtime for hours worked in excess of 40 hours in the workweek and paid at a rate of time and one-half their hourly rate of pay.

## 23. <u>Differential Pay</u>

#### A. Longevity

Ten Years of Service:

Employees who have completed ten (10) years of service for CCCERA\* are eligible to receive a two and one-half percent (2.5%) longevity differential effective on the first day of the month following the month in which the employee qualifies for the ten (10) year service award.

Fifteen Years of Service:

Employees who have completed fifteen (15) years of service for CCCERA\* are eligible to receive an additional two and one-half percent (2.5%) longevity differential effective on the first day of the month following the month in which the employee qualifies for the fifteen (15) year service award.

#### Twenty Years of Service:

Employees who have completed twenty (20) years of service for CCCERA\* will receive an additional two percent (2%) longevity differential effective on the first day of the month following the month in which the employee qualifies for the twenty (20) year service award.

\*For employees hired prior to January 1, 2019 upon completion of required years of service for Contra Costa County and/or CCCERA will qualify.

#### B. Certificate Differentials

**NOTE**: No employee may receive more than one certificate differential at one time, regardless of the number of certificates held by that employee.

## Accounting Certificate Differential

Incumbents of unrepresented professional accounting, auditing or fiscal officer positions who possess one of the following active certifications will receive a differential of five percent (5%) of base monthly salary:

- (1) a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) license issued by the State of California, Department of Consumer Affairs, Board of Accountancy;
- (2) a Certified Internal Auditor (CIA) certification issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors;
- (3) a Certified Management Accountant (CMA) certification issued by the Institute of Management Accountants; or
- (4) a Certified Government Financial Manager (CGFM) certification issued by the Association of Government Accountants.
  - Associate of the Society of Actuaries (ASA)

Employees who possess an active ASA certification will receive a differential of five percent (5%) of base monthly salary. Verification of eligibility for any such differential must be provided to Human Resources.

THIS RESOLUTION WAS ADOPTED BY THE AFFIRMATIVE VOTE OF THE BOARD OF RETIREMENT OF THE CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION THIS THIRTEENTH OF MARCH, 2024.

AYES:

Andersen, Chebotarev, Gordon, Holcombe, Kroll, MacDonald,

Mierzwa, Phillips and Wong

NOES:

None

ABSTAIN:

None

ABSENT:

None

Scott W. Gordon

Chairperson of the Board of Retirement

Attest:

Verry R. Holcombe

Secretary

## Resolution of the Board of Retirement Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association

CCCERA Resolution for Salary and Benefits for Unrepresented Employees (BOR Reso. No. 2024-2)

#### Attachment A

## Effective April 1, 2024

 $Revision\ Dates: 3/13/24,\ 1/24/24,\ 2/1/23,\ 1/1/23,\ 7/27/2022,\ 7/13/2022,\ 4/1/2022,\ 1/1/2022,\ 4/1/2021,\ 4/1/2020,\ 1/1/2020,\ 7/1/19,\ 4/1/19,\ 7/1/18,\ 7/1/17,\ 7/1/16,\ 2/1/16,\ 7/1/15,\ 1/1/15$ 

						Eligible for Differential*				
						10 year Longevity	15 year Longevity	20 year Longevity	CPA, CGFM, CIA, CMA	ASA
	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	2.50%	2.50%	2.00%	5%	5%
Hourly (Non-Exempt)										
Executive Assistant	\$43.59	\$45.77	\$48.06	\$50.46	\$52.98	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Information Technology Coordinator	\$45.77	\$48.06	\$50.46	\$52.98	\$55.63	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Member Services Supervisor	\$52.98	\$55.63	\$58.41	\$61.33	\$64.40	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Retirement Services Supervisor	\$52.98	\$55.63	\$58.41	\$61.33	\$64.40	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Monthly (Exempt)										
Accountant	\$7,195	\$7,555	\$7,933	\$8,330	\$8,746	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Accounting Manager	\$12,307	\$12,922	\$13,568	\$14,247	\$14,959	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Accounting Supervisor	\$9,183	\$9,643	\$10,125	\$10,631	\$11,163	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Administrative Services Manager	\$12,014	\$12,614	\$13,245	\$13,907	\$14,603	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Human Resources Manager	\$12,014	\$12,614	\$13,245	\$13,907	\$14,603	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Human Resources Coordinator	\$9,183	\$9,643	\$10,125	\$10,631	\$11,163	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Communications Coordinator	\$8,538	\$8,965	\$9,413	\$9,884	\$10,378	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Compliance Business Analyst	\$9,413	\$9,884	\$10,378	\$10,897	\$11,442	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Deputy General Counsel	\$17,317	\$18,183	\$19,092	\$20,046	\$21,049	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Information System Programmer/Analyst	\$8,746	\$9,183	\$9,643	\$10,125	\$10,631	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Network Security Engineer	\$10,125	\$10,631	\$11,163	\$11,721	\$12,307	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Information Technology Manager	\$14,603	\$15,333	\$16,099	\$16,904	\$17,750	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Investment Analyst	\$12,614	\$13,245	\$13,907	\$14,603	\$15,333	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Investment Officer	\$17,750	\$18,637	\$19,569	\$20,547	\$21,575	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Member Services Manager	\$12,014	\$12,614	\$13,245	\$13,907	\$14,603	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Retirement Services Manager	\$12,014	\$12,614	\$13,245	\$13,907	\$14,603	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Senior Investment Analyst	\$13,907	\$14,603	\$15,333	\$16,099	\$16,904	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Senior Investment Officer	\$19,569	\$20,547	\$21,575	\$22,654	\$23,786	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes

	Monthly Salary Range (Exempt)					
Chief Executive Officer	\$25,000**	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Chief Investment Officer	\$23,701 - \$30,811	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Compliance Officer	\$12,250 - \$15,924	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Deputy Chief Executive Officer	\$19,003 - \$24,701	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
General Counsel	\$20,949 - \$27,232	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Internal Auditor	\$12,250 - \$15,924	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
*NOT	E: Certificate Differentials cannot be combined with o **Effective 3/16/2024	ther certificate d	ifferentials			